

12th MEETING OF THE SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

30 September to 05 October 2024, Lima, Peru

SC 12 - SQ 05 Dosidicus gigas early life stages drift model off Peru: Identifying potential spawning areas

Peru



12th MEETING OF THE SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE

Lima, 30 September – 05 October 2024



DOSIDICUS GIGAS EARLY LIFE STAGES DRIFT MODEL OFF PERU: IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL SPAWNING AREAS

by

JORGE FLORES-VALIENTE, RICARDO TAFUR, ROCIO RONCAL, JIMENA MENDOZA, CARLOTA ESTRELLA, RENATO GUEVARA-CARRASCO

Instituto del Mar del Perú

This report contains information on the jumbo flyng squid fishery in Peruvian jurisdictional waters that, we reiterate, the delegation of Peru, in use of its discretionary powers, voluntarily provides for the purpose of information and support to the scientific research work within the Scientific Committee of the SPRFMO. In doing so, while referring to Article 5 of the Convention on the Conservation and Management of High Seas Fishery Resources in the South Pacific Ocean and reiterating that Peru has not given the express consent contemplated in Article 20 (4) (a) (iii) of the Convention, Peru reaffirms that the decisions and conservation and management measures adopted by the SPRFMO Commission are not applicable within Peruvian jurisdictional waters.

2024

Dosidicus gigas early life stages drift model off Peru: Identifying potential spawning areas

Jorge FLORES-VALIENTE, Ricardo TAFUR, Rocio RONCAL, Jimena MENDOZA, Carlota ESTRELLA, Renato GUEVARA-CARRASCO



August, 2024

Contents

List of Figures					
1	Abstract				
2	Introduction				
3	Methods				
	3.1	Spatial	identification of spawning areas by morphotype	2	
	3.2	3D Lag	grangian model	3	
		3.2.1	Purpose	3	
		3.2.2	Entities and state variables	3	
		3.2.3	Initialization	4	
		3.2.4	Transport model	4	
		3.2.5	Simulations and sensitivity analysis	4	
4	Res	ults		5	
	4.1	.1 Spawning areas by morphotype			
	4.2	Paralar	val drift experiments	7	
5	Discussion and conclusions			11	
Re	References				
Gl	Glossary				

List of Figures

1	Proposed size range limits (for females and males) to dis- ariminate length groups based on the size ranges proposed by			
	Nigmetullin at $al_{(2001)}$ ML – month length (mm)	r		
2	Nigitiatumi <i>et al.</i> (2001). $ML =$ mainte lengui (<i>mm</i>)	Z		
Ζ	spatial distribution of mature remains between the years 1989			
	and 2023. The black empses indicate areas of the two most			
	important hotspots with the presence of mature females. The	-		
	pixel size is 0.15°	5		
3	Same as Fig. 2, but by morphotype.	6		
4	Initial spawning position of <i>Dosidicus gigas</i> off the Peruvian			
	coast. The red dots represent the northern area and the blue			
	dots the southern area.	6		
5	Monthly trajectories of spawning individuals in northern and			
	southern Peru spawned at a depth of 5 m. A sample of 500			
	individuals was taken.	8		
6	Same as Fig. 5, but particles were released at 35 m	9		
7	Box plot of distance travelled (dispersion in km, X-axis) as a			
	function of spawning depth $(m, Y-axis)$ for individuals spawned			
	in the northern and southern areas.	9		
8	Box plot of distance travelled (dispersion in km, X-axis) as			
	a function of spawning month (<i>m</i> , Y-axis) for individuals			
	spawned in the northern and southern areas	10		
9	Hovmoller diagram showing the average sizes (in <i>cm</i>) of ma-	10		
	ture females as a function of latitude $(2-20 \text{ ss} \text{ X})$ avis) during			
	the period 1080 to 2022 (V evic)	12		
	uic periou 1909 to 2023 (1-axis)	13		

1 Abstract

The spatial distribution of mature females (stages 3 and 4) of the three morphotypes (small, medium and large) was mapped for use as proxies of spawning potential. Two spawning hotspots of *Dosidicus gigas* were identified, one in the north and one in the south of Peru. The aforementioned areas were utilized as spawning zones for early life stage drift experiments over a 30-day period. It was observed that the northern area exhibited greater spatial and temporal variability (on a seasonal scale) in dispersal patterns, particularly along the longitudinal axis. The northern zone was distinguished by a higher loss of spawned individuals in surface layers (5-15 m) transported offshore even up to Galapagos Islands, while the southern zone demonstrated superior conditions for retention.

Keywords: Dosidicus gigas, mature females, early life stages, Ichthyop

2 Introduction

The Jumbo flying squid (*Dosidicus gigas*), an omastrephid species, is primarily associated with upwelling areas (Tafur & Rabí, 1997), characterised by their high productivity and nutrient content (Kämpf & Chapman, 2016). These conditions provide an abundant food source, enabling to sustain its high metabolic rates and rapid growth, which results in a short life spam for the species (Argüelles *et al.*, 2001), in addition to its semelparous condition, which is characterised by a single reproductive pulse at the end of its life cycle (Markaida *et al.*, 2004).

D. gigas is distributed throughout the Pacific Ocean, with high concentrations in the Humboldt and California ecosystems. In these regions, *D. gigas* has exhibited a high degree of variability in its population structure, with the presence of up to three distinct morphotypes characterised by differences in the mantle length in mature individuals, including both females and males (Markaida *et al.*, 2004; Nigmatullin *et al.*, 2001).

Although the substantial abundance of biological studies on juveniles and adults of *D. gigas*, a gap remains in the study of its Early Life Stages (ELS), despite the fact that is well know that these stages are crucial periods for the survival of individuals and subsequent impact on adult populations in most marine species (Stige *et al.*, 2019). One of the first attempts to explore the dynamics of ELS was described in the California ecosystem by Ramos *et al.* (2017) with the aim of characterising the spawning habitat of this species. Then, we propose a spatial analysis to identify potential spawning areas by morphotype and to explore how these will influence (through ocean currents) the trajectories and distribution of *D. gigas* ELS off the Peruvian coast using a Lagrangian modelling tool called Ichthyop.

3 Methods

3.1 Spatial identification of spawning areas by morphotype

The insufficient sampling of ELS (paralarvae) of *D. gigas* precludes the observation of a general pattern of spawning areas. Furthermore, the paralarvae can be confused with those of other similar species. Then, the mapping and identification of spawning areas was conducted using only mature female individuals. The degree of sexual maturity of females is determined by a macroscopic observational method, with values ranging from 1 to 4. This method was compared with maturity indices described by Markaida & Sosa-Nishizaki (2001), indicating that it is capable of correctly discriminating mature individuals (grade 3 and 4) from immature ones (grade 1 and 2). Subsequently, the mature females were classified into three categories (size groups) based on mantle length (*mm*, Fig. 1), as described by Nigmatullin *et al.* (2001): *small*, *medium*, and *large*.



Fig. 1: Proposed size range limits (for females and males) to discriminate length groups based on the size ranges proposed by Nigmatullin et al. (2001). ML = mantle length (mm)

The data used to map potential spawning areas were collected by Instituto del Mar del Perú (IMARPE) through survey cruises and fisheries monitoring between 1989 and 2023. A general distribution map of mature individuals was generated, as well as a distribution map of mature individuals by size group, using the longitude and latitude of individuals sampled in the fishing area. The latitudinal range of the mapping was 3°-20°south. It should be noted that between 1991 and 2011, IMARPE on-board observers collected fishery biological information in the foreign flag fleet (Japon, Korea, and China) in accordance with international agreements and concessions.

3.2 3D Lagrangian model

An individual-based model (IBM) simulates populations and communities by following individuals and their properties (DeAngelis & Grimm, 2014). The IBM used here was the lagrangian tool Ichthyop, (Lett *et al.*, 2008), version 3.2.

Ichthyop is an open-source software (download from: Github). This tool allows us to study the effects of physical factors (ocean currents) on planktonic individuals dynamics by simulating the movement (in 3D) based on stored data provided by a hydrodynamic model (ROMS/CROCO, MARS, or NEMO). The stored data, which includes currents, temperature and salinity, varies in time and space and are imposed on the individuals.

In general, a protocol designed for this type of IBM approach will be followed (Grimm *et al.*, 2006, 2010) in order to explore the dynamics of *D. gigas* ELS.

3.2.1 Purpose

To assess the effect of ocean currents on dispersal patterns of ELS of *D. gigas* in two spawning areas off Peru.

3.2.2 Entities and state variables

The model included two types of entities: the environment and the individuals (virtual particles). The environment was represented by stored hydrodynamic simulations from the Coastal and Regional Ocean COmmunity model (CROCO, Hilt *et al.* (2020); Shchepetkin & McWilliams (2005)) providing the forcing state variables: ocean current velocities (ms^{-1}), over the Humboldt Current system. Individuals were characterized by the following state variables: age (*d*) and location in 3D (longitude, latitude and depth).

The hydrodynamic model configuration extends from $22^{\circ}S$ to $5^{\circ}N$ in latitude and from $96^{\circ}W$ to $70^{\circ}W$ in longitude, with a horizontal resolution of ~ 10 km and 32 vertical levels. The bathymetry comes from the STRM30 dataset (Becker *et al.*, 2009). For further information regarding the hydrodynamic configuration of the model, please refer to Flores-Valiente *et al.* (2023).

Climatological simulations were run for 10 years, the first 4 years being considered as a spin-up. In the present study, the last three years were used to force Ichthyop.

3.2.3 Initialization

In each simulation, a total of 1984 individuals were released at fixed positions, as identified through the process of spawning area mapping (Section 3.1) each month at days 1, 10 and 20, during the three climatological years used. Four spawning depths (5m, 15m, 25m and 35m) were employed, based on the vertical distribution of paralarvae samples. Although deeper spawning has been documented, it was not considered in this study because the ocean is more stable at greater depths, which would not significantly impact dispersal patterns.

3.2.4 Transport model

To simulate particle transport, virtual individuals were advected using a trilinear interpolation scheme of the velocity fields derived from CROCO, in time and space, and using a forward Euler numerical scheme with horizontal diffusion following Peliz *et al.* (2007).

3.2.5 Simulations and sensitivity analysis

After each simulation, the distance traveled by each individual (particle) was calculated and analyzed according to the month of spawning, the distance to the coast at spawning and the spawning area (*north*, 2-8 °S or *south* 14-17 °S).

4 Results

4.1 Spawning areas by morphotype

The distribution of mature females (grades 3 and 4) revealed the existence of two hotspots in the north and south zones (Fig. 2), respectively, where the presence of mature females is concentrated.



Fig. 2: Spatial distribution of mature females between the years 1989 and 2023. The black ellipses indicate areas of the two most important hotspots with the presence of mature females. The pixel size is 0.15°.

By segregating the spatial distribution of mature females according to size group (Fig. 3), we observed that small and medium-sized mature females were concentrated in the northern zone, while large mature females were significantly present in the southern zone as well. The area in central Peru is regarded as a diffuse zone, exhibiting a relatively diminished prevalence of mature females. Fig. 4 shows the initial spawning positions used as a starting point for paralarvae transport simulations based on the findings in Fig. 2.



Fig. 3: Same as Fig. 2, but by morphotype.



Fig. 4: Initial spawning position of Dosidicus gigas off the Peruvian coast. The red dots represent the northern area and the blue dots the southern area.

4.2 Paralarval drift experiments

Following a 30-day drift period, the simulated trajectories of the ELS of D. *gigas* in northern and southern Peru exhibited notable seasonal variability, with the northern zone displaying the most pronounced changes when particles were released at 5 m depth. During the months of June to October, it is feasible that trajectories may extend as far as the Galapagos Islands, contingent on the spawning of individuals in the northern region. It was possible to observe some deepening southward trajectories due to the subsurface countercurrent (Fig. 5). The southern area showed a lower degree of dispersion.

The degree of retention was found to be higher and similar in both northern and southern areas when individuals were spawned at a depth of 35 m. and exhibiting a deeper particle depth and failing to extend to distant areas such as the Galapagos, in contrast to the spawning depth of 5 metres (Fig. 6).

The dispersion of individuals was markedly greater in the northern region and during spawning in shallow layers (5 and 15 m). In the southern zone, the degree of dispersal was significantly lower, with an average distance of just over 200 km, and exhibited minimal variation with respect to spawning depth (Fig. 7).

The dispersion exhibited a discernible seasonal pattern exclusively in the northern region, with elevated means during the winter months. In the southern region, the mean dispersion distance remained relatively constant throughout the year (Fig. 8).



Fig. 5: Monthly trajectories of spawning individuals in northern and southern Peru spawned at a depth of 5 m. A sample of 500 individuals was taken.



Fig. 6: Same as Fig. 5, but particles were released at 35 m.



Fig. 7: Box plot of distance travelled (dispersion in km, X-axis) as a function of spawning depth (m, Y-axis) for individuals spawned in the northern and southern areas.



Fig. 8: Box plot of distance travelled (dispersion in km, X-axis) as a function of spawning month (m, Y-axis) for individuals spawned in the northern and southern areas.

5 Discussion and conclusions

The larval drift modelling approach has been successfully employed in the study of the ecology of other invertebrates as bivalves (Flores-Valiente *et al.*, 2019) and crustaceans (Peliz *et al.*, 2007) using ocean currents as forcing agents. A period of 30 days is typical for this type of study, although longer periods may be used, given the variable duration of the planktonic stage of *D. gigas*, especially its incubation period (Yatsu *et al.*, 1999). Nevertheless, to enhance the realism of these studies, it is advised that species-specific growth models be incorporated, as well as Flores-Valiente *et al.* (2023) for Peruvian anchovy.

The spatial scale of the study (10 *km*) is sufficient to describe the dispersal patterns of the jumbo flying squid, as it typically exhibits minimal presence in coastal areas and bays, where the current model's spatial resolution may be constrained, affecting retention patterns in very shallow (bays) areas (Arellano *et al.*, 2023).

The spatial range for mapping spawning areas is constrained by sampling coverage, given the expansive distribution of *D. gigas* outside 200 miles from the Peruvian coast. This encompasses regions where data are currently lacking, including its southern range off the coast of Chile. Nevertheless, an examination of the spawning patterns of small and medium-sized mature females of *D. gigas* in the Peruvian coastal region reveals that the northern area may experience a disadvantage in terms of reproductive success due to the loss of individuals heading west. This is in contrast to the southern area, where large mature females would be the primary source of paralarvae, as well as exhibiting a high retention rate.

The experiments are limited in that they consider only passive movement as a function of ocean currents. It is recommended that a more complex version of the model, called Evol - DEB (Brochier *et al.*, 2018), be used. This model includes a complete life cycle of individuals, is multigenerational, and includes different algorithms for active movement (swimming). Evol - DEB has been shown to reproduce migration patterns in fish from spawning zones to nursery areas, a trait that may be employed to evaluate the conceptual hypothesis of ontogenetic migration as described by Alegre *et al.* (2014).

Although these simulations are conducted on a seasonal time scale, it is recommended to perform an exercise with an interannual forcing, given that almost decadal periods of size ranges of mature females have been observed (Fig. 9). For example, during the 1990s, average sizes of 30 *cm* were observed, while in the 2000s the average size increased to 75 *cm*, and currently in the 2010s we are going through another period of smaller sizes (50 *cm*). It is important to note that this pattern may be subject to bias due to its reliance on fishery monitoring data, which does not adhere to a uniform sampling strategy across the entirety of Peru's territorial waters.

It can be concluded that the size groups of mature females of *D. gigas* exhibit disparate distributions, with the small and medium-sized groups predominantly situated in the northern zone, while the large groups occupy both the northern and southern zones.

The dispersal patterns of the small and medium-sized mature females are likely to be significantly impacted in the northern zone, with a notable loss of paralarvae during winter months, when individual are spawned in the surface layers. The larger females, which are also present in the southern region, serve as the primary source of paralarvae, contributing to the population in the northern zone, when spawning occurs at greater depths (deeper than 25 m).



Fig. 9: Hovmoller diagram showing the average sizes (in cm) of mature females as a function of latitude (2-20 °S, X-axis) during the period 1989 to 2023 (Y-axis).

References

- Alegre, Ana, Ménard, Frédéric, Tafur, Ricardo, Espinoza, Pepe, Argüelles, Juan, Maehara, Víctor, Flores, Oswaldo, Simier, Monique, & Bertrand, Arnaud. 2014. Comprehensive model of jumbo squid dosidicus gigas trophic ecology in the northern humboldt current system. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1).
- Arellano, Cinthia, Echevin, Vincent, Merma-Mora, Lander, Chamorro, Adolfo, Gutiérrez, Dimitri, Aguirre-Velarde, Arturo, Tam, Jorge, & Colas, Francois. 2023. Circulation and stratification drivers during the summer season in the upwelling bay of Paracas (Peru): A modelling study. *Continental Shelf Research*, 254, 104923.
- Argüelles, J., Rodhouse, P. G., Villegas, P., & Castillo, G. 2001. Age, growth and population structure of the jumbo flying squid Dosidicus gigas in Peruvian waters. *Fisheries Research*, 54(1), 51–61.
- Becker, J, Sandwell, D, Smith, Walter, Braud, J, Binder, B, Depner, J, Fabre, D, Factor, J, Ingalls, S, Kim, S, Ladner, R, Marks, K, Nelson, S, Pharaoh, A, Trimmer, R, von Rosenberg, J, Wallace, G, & Weatherall, P. 2009. Global Bathymetry and Elevation Data at 30 Arc Seconds Resolution: SRTM30PLUS. *Marine Geodesy*, 32, 355–371.
- Brochier, Timothée, Auger, Pierre Amaël, Pecquerie, Laure, Machu, Eric, Capet, Xavier, Thiaw, Modou, Mbaye, Baye Cheikh, Braham, Cheikh Baye, Ettahiri, Omar, Charouki, Najib, Sène, Ousseynou Ndaw, Werner, Francisco, & Brehmer, Patrice. 2018. Complex small pelagic fish population patterns arising from individual behavioral responses to their environment. *Progress in Oceanography*, **164**(June 2017), 12–27.
- DeAngelis, Donald, & Grimm, Volker. 2014. Individual-based models in ecology after four decades. *F1000Prime Reports*, 6(June).
- Flores-Valiente, Jorge, Tam, Jorge, Brochier, Timothée, Colas, François, Pecquerie, Laure, Aguirre-Velarde, Arturo, Mendo, Jaime, & Lett, Christophe. 2019. Larval supply of Peruvian scallop to the marine reserve of Lobos de Tierra Island: A modeling approach. *Journal of Sea Research*, 144, 142–155.
- Flores-Valiente, Jorge, Lett, Christophe, Colas, François, Pecquerie, Laure, Aguirre-Velarde, Arturo, Rioual, Fanny, Tam, Jorge, Bertrand, Arnaud, Ayón, Patricia, Sall, Saidou, Barrier, Nicolas, & Brochier, Timothée. 2023. Influence of combined temperature and food availability on Peruvian anchovy (Engraulis ringens) early life stages in the northern Humboldt Current system: A modelling approach. *Progress in Oceanography*, **215**, 103034.
- Grimm, Volker, Berger, Uta, Bastiansen, Finn, Eliassen, Sigrunn, Ginot, Vincent, Giske, Jarl, Goss-Custard, John, Grand, Tamara, Heinz, Simone K., Huse, Geir, Huth, Andreas, Jepsen, Jane U., Jørgensen, Christian, Mooij, Wolf M., Müller, Birgit, Pe'er, Guy, Piou, Cyril, Railsback, Steven F., Robbins, Andrew M., Robbins, Martha M., Rossmanith, Eva, Rüger, Nadja, Strand, Espen, Souissi, Sami, Stillman, Richard A., Vabø, Rune, Visser, Ute, & DeAngelis, Donald. 2006. A standard protocol for describing individual-based and agent-based models. *Ecological Modelling*, **198**, 115–126.

- Grimm, Volker, Berger, Uta, DeAngelis, Donald, Polhill, J. Gary, Giske, Jarl, & Railsback, Steven F. 2010. The ODD protocol: A review and first update. *Ecological Modelling*, **221**, 2760–2768.
- Hilt, Margaux, Auclair, Francis, Benshila, Rachid, Bordois, Lucie, Capet, Xavier, Debreu, Laurent, Dumas, Franck, Jullien, Swen, Lemarié, Florian, Marchesiello, Patrick, Nguyen, Cyril, & Roblou, Laurent. 2020. Numerical modelling of hydraulic control, solitary waves and primary instabilities in the Strait of Gibraltar. *Ocean Modelling*, **151**, 1–16.
- Kämpf, Jochen, & Chapman, Piers. 2016. The Peruvian-Chilean coastal upwelling system. Chap. 5, pages 161–201 of: Upwelling Systems of the World: A Scientific Journey to the Most Productive Marine Ecosystems. Springer International Publishing.
- Lett, Christophe, Verley, Philippe, Mullon, Christian, Parada, Carolina, Brochier, Timothée, Penven, Pierrick, & Blanke, Bruno. 2008. A Lagrangian tool for modelling ichthyoplankton dynamics. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, 23, 1210–1214.
- Markaida, Unai, & Sosa-Nishizaki, Oscar. 2001. Reproductive biology of jumbo squid Dosidicus gigas in the Gulf of California, 1995-1997. *Fisheries Research*, **54**(1), 63–82.
- Markaida, Unai, Quiñónez-Velázquez, Casimiro, & Sosa-Nishizaki, Oscar. 2004. Age, growth and maturation of jumbo squid Dosidicus gigas (Cephalopoda: Ommastrephidae) from the Gulf of California, Mexico. *Fisheries Research*, 66(1), 31–47.
- Nigmatullin, Ch M., Nesis, K. N., & Arkhipkin, A. I. 2001. A review of the biology of the jumbo squid Dosidicus gigas (Cephalopoda: Ommastrephidae). *Fisheries Research*, 54(1), 9–19.
- Peliz, Alvaro, Marchesiello, Patrick, Dubert, Jesus, Marta-Almeida, Martinho, Roy, Claude, & Queiroga, Henrique. 2007. A study of crab larvae dispersal on the Western Iberian Shelf: Physical processes. *Journal of Marine Systems*, 68, 215–236.
- Ramos, Jorge E., Ramos-Rodríguez, Alejandro, Ferreri, Gastón Bazzino, Kurczyn, J. Alejandro, Rivas, David, & Salinas-Zavala, César A. 2017. Characterization of the northernmost spawning habitat of Dosidicus gigas with implications for its northwards range extension. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 572, 179–192.
- Shchepetkin, Alexander F., & McWilliams, James C. 2005. The regional oceanic modeling system (ROMS): A split-explicit, free-surface, topography-following-coordinate oceanic model. *Ocean Modelling*, 9, 347–404.
- Stige, Leif Christian, Rogers, Lauren A, Neuheimer, Anna B, Hunsicker, Mary E, Yaragina, Natalia A, Ottersen, Geir, Ciannelli, Lorenzo, Langangen, Øystein, & Durant, Joël M. 2019. Density- and size-dependent mortality in fish early life stages. *Fish and Fisheries*, 20(5), 962–976.
- Tafur, Ricardo, & Rabí, Miguel. 1997. Reproduction of the jumbo flying squid, Dosidicus gigas (Orbigny, 1835) (Cephalopoda: Ommastrephidae) off Peruvian coasts. *Scientia Marina*, **61**(SUPPL.2), 33–37.
- Yatsu, Akihiko, Tafur, Ricardo, & Maravi, Carol. 1999. Embryos and rhynchoteuthion paralarvae of the jumbo flying squid dosidicus gigas (cephalopoda) obtained through artificial fertilization from peruvian waters. *Fisheries Science*, **65**(6), 904–908.

Glossary

С

CROCO Coastal and Regional Ocean COmmunity model. 3, 4

D

D. gigas Pelagic marine organism distributed in the Eastern Pacific Ocean from the US-Mexico border to Chile.. 1, 2, 3, 7, 11, 12

Е

ELS Early Life Stages. 1, 2, 3, 7

Ι

IBM individual-based model. 3

Ichthyop A Lagrangian tool for modelling ichthyoplankton dynamics. 3, 4 **IMARPE** Instituto del Mar del Perú. 2